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SUMMARY

Lancashire County Council has requested the completf a Level 2 historic building
survey of a barn at Church Lane, Tunstall, Lancas{kig 1), as mitigation in advance of
its conversion to a residential property. In regerPhil Stephenson commissioned Oxford
Archaeology North (OA North) to undertake the bunfglsurvey and this report sets out the
results of the work in the form of a short documditte fieldwork was carried out on"1.3
July 2016.

The agricultural barn under study is located at N§BR120 473699, south of Church Lane
and in the middle of an enclosed field north-edstunstall village. The area under study
comprises the agricultural building and its fieltdaa surrounding radius af500m which
includes the eastern parts of Tunstall village #r Old School House to the north and
Church to the east. The close proximity of Thurl&@waktle to the south, outside the study
area, would certainly have impacted on the mediandlpost-medieval development of this
locality and has been examined as part of the warthe historical background.

The agricultural building is standing within a sariof three or four enclosed fields which
appear not to have been developed or built onyidemced by the available mapping, since
the early nineteenth century, and reflect a notaalp between the church (which was
documented in the Domesday Book) and the histanidre, or caput, of the village. If the

two centres were linked in the past, then therstexhe possibility that elements of the
village may have been abandoned in the medievadidy post-medieval periods.

The barn has an eighteenth / early nineteenth gewrtaracter and was seemingly first
depicted on the 1824 Greenwood map, but may hage barlier. By the time of the first
detailed map, the 1847 OS first edition map, theexa and southern extensions were in
place, and would indicate that the primary phasthefbuilding was earlier than that date.
The quantity and character of the reused timbaraddhroughout the barn suggests that it
had been constructed using timbers from an eatiiacture.

The original barn was designed as a multi-functitm@ding, capable of housing live-stock
when necessary but also for the storing and prougs$ harvested crops. The tall wide cart
entrance at the centre of the western side alldwidladen carts to enter from the fields,
while the opposing doorway of the primary build,swast high enough to allow an un-
laden cart to leave the building on the farm sifldoarn. There was no wide doorway
through the north-eastern extension, indicating tihe@ use of the barn for threshing related
only to the original barn, and by the time that éx¢ensions had been constructed the barn
was primarily being used for accommodating stock.

The fact that the earliest phase of the barn whseshing barn is potentially significant, as
threshing barns were typically in direct assocratiath a farm, this contrasts with fields
barns which were intended to accommodate stock. if@ication is that there was

formerly a farm house at the site, which is no Emegxtant.

For the use of Phil Stephenson © OA North: August 2016
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1. INTRODUCTION

11
111

12
121

1.2.2

CIRCUMSTANCES OF PROJECT

Lancashire County Council requested the compleatioa Level 2 historic building
survey of a barn at Church Lane, Tunstall, Lancas(itig 1), in advance of its
conversion to a residential property. In resporida@ Stephenson commissioned
Oxford Archaeology North (OA North) to undertakee thuilding survey and this
report sets out the results of the work in the fofra short document. The fieldwork
was carried out on 13July 2016.

LOCATION, TOPOGRAPHY AND GEOL OGY

The agricultural barn under study is located at NG&R120 473699, south of
Church Lane in the middle of an enclosed field m@&ast of Tunstall village. It is in
an area of valley floodplains enclosed in the postieval period
(www.lancashire.gov.uk). The soils are of clayt, shnd and gravel alluvial deposits
in an environment of rivers and river terrace dépqsvww.mapapps.bgs.ac.uk). The
bedrock is of the Millstone Grit group of Mudstorgiltstone and Sandstone formed
in the Carboniferous Period in an setting of swareptiaries and deltabif).

The Study Area: the area under study comprises the agriculturddibg and its
field and a surrounding radius ©600m which includes the eastern parts of Tunstall
village and the OId School House to the north ahdr€h to the east (Plate 1). The
close proximity of Thurland Castle to the southtsmie the study area, would
certainly have impacted on the medieval and postienal development of this
locality and this has been examined as part oivibr& on the historical background.

For the use of Phil Stephenson © OA North: August 2016
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2. METHODOLOGY

21
211

2.2
221

2.2.2

2.2.3

224

INTRODUCTION

This historic building survey was carried out incaance with the relevant
Chartered Institute for Archaeologists (IfA) andgish Heritage guidelines (CIfA
2008; 2012a; 2012b; English Heritage 2006a; 2006b).

HISTORIC ASSESSMENT

Desk-Based Research: current policy and guidance relating to proposed
development and the historic environment (NatioBalicy Planning Framework
(NPPF), DCLG 2012) refers to sites of archaeoldgioa cultural heritage
significance as ‘heritage assetdid). These are viewed as being aneplaceable
resourcé and their conservation can bringider social, cultural, economic and
environmental benefits.(op cit, Section 12.126). The policy framework states that
the ‘significance of any heritage assets affected, holy any contribution made by
their setting should be understood in order to assess the patempact of a
proposed developmendf cit Section 12.128), and in line with this deSk-based
assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluahonld be undertaken to inform
the planning proces#(d).

The aim of the desk-based research is not onlyvi® gpnsideration to the heritage
assets in and around the redevelopment site, lmat tal put the site into its
archaeological and historical context. The prinkcgmarces of information consulted
were historical and modern maps of the study aeddough published and
unpublished secondary sources were also reviewezlsdurces consulted include:

Lancashire HER: Lancashire County Council maintains the HistoritviEonment
Record (HER), which is a Geographical Informatiogpst8m (GIS) and linked
database of records relating to known heritagetaiselso includes the Lancashire
Historic Landscape Characterisation survey and ugparted by an extensive
archive, including reports, site records and pualblons. Much information
pertaining to designated heritage and conservait@s and to the listed buildings
within the study area was available from the Mapd Related Information Online
on the Lancashire County Council Homepage (MARIQywilancaster.gov.uk).
HER data was requested from Lancashire Archaeabgidvisory Services; listed
building data was retrieved from the online HistdEngland pages. A list of sites
based on the HER is presented\ppendix 1

Cartographic Sources: the digital OS maps of 1847, 1891 (Figs 2a andazig) of
the twentieth century and online older maps weretaiobd from
www.geog.port.ac.uk and wwwa3.lancashire.gov.uk/emment/oldmap. A visit to
the Lancashire Archives was made in order to stbdyTithe Apportionment Maps
for Tunstall and Cantsfield. The catalogues of ttencashire Archives were
accessed; there was one documertt 02 relating to road repairs on Church Lane
(QSP/874/17,c 1702) and a number of other documents which needgebrt
reading. Secondary sources were limited but inaduslétish History Online and an
account of the history ofhe Church and Parish of Tunstély Sara Mason (1995).
Recent aerial photographs were accessed on thdé3Bagh and British Geological
Survey online pages.

For the use of Phil Stephenson © OA North: August 2016
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2.2.5 Oxford Archaeology North: OA North has an extensive archive of secondary
sources relevant to the study area, as well as musenpublished client reports on
work carried out, both as OA North and in its forrgaeise of Lancaster University
Archaeological Unit (LUAU). These were consultedemnecessary.

2.3 BUILDING SURVEY

2.3.1 The site was visited on T3of July 2016 to undertake an investigation of the
standing structure and implement a fabric surveyce&s was available to all parts
of the building. The investigation entailed the gulation of a descriptive record,
the production of site drawings and the generatica photographic record.

2.3.2 Descriptive Record: written records to English Heritage Level 1l (BB, using OA
North pro formarecord sheets, were made of the principal buildilegnents, both
internal and external, as well as any features istohcal or architectural
significance.

2.3.3 Site Drawings: the survey drawings of the barn were created mtqgrammetry
using photographs taken from an unmanned aeriailcleellUAV), with survey
markers placed around the building in order to @evthe control for the
photogrammetry. The survey control was establishsethg a total station and
adopted a local grid. Specialist photogrammetriftwvsoe was used to create
accurate three dimensional models of the overdllllimg and its external elevations.

2.3.4 The photogrammetric processing was undertaken uamigoft software which
provides detailed modelling using the overlap ota@00 photographs, and creates
a very detailed DTM (Digital Terrain Model) acroge site. The photographs are
then digitally draped over the model to create erueate three dimensional model
of the ground surface. The primary output, howeigean accurate two dimensional
image which was used to generate plans, or pradiheselevation drawings (Figs 4-
8).

2.3.5 Photographic Record: a Canon EOS 5D digital SLR (12.8 megapixels) caméifa

a selection of lenses, was used for the generabghaphic record. Images in Canon
RAW format files (.cr2 format) were captured andeshas 8 bit TIFFs for archive

purposes. The data are stored on two separaterseeazh on different sites and
with appropriate back-up and disaster plans inepléc addition, hard copies of the
images were created on paper of appropriate aidchuality and will be deposited

as part of the paper archive. The photography Herghotogrammetry was taken
using a lightweight Sone NEX5 camera which has &§apixel resolution.

24 ARCHIVE

2.4.1 Copies of this report will be deposited with thentashire HER for reference
purposes and a copy will be deposited with the Bahite Record Office.

For the use of Phil Stephenson © OA North: August 2016
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3. HISTORIC BACKGROUND

31
3.1.1

3.2
3.2.1

3.2.2

INTRODUCTION

The following section presents a summary of thdohal and archaeological
background of the general area. This is presergedrglly by historical period, and
has been compiled in order to place the study armaa wider archaeological
context. This is then followed by an assessmerihefredevelopment site in more
specific terms.

Period Date Range
Palaeolithic 30,000 — 10,000 BC
Mesolithic 10,000 — 4,000 BC
Neolithic 4,000 — 2,500 BC
Bronze Age 2,500 - 700 BC
Iron Age 700 BC — AD 43
Roman AD 43 — AD 410
Early Medieval AD 410 — AD 1066
Medieval AD 1066 — AD 1540
Post-medieval AD 1540€1750
Industrial Period cAD1750 — 1901
Modern Post-1901

Table 1: Summary of British archaeological peri@hsl date ranges

DESIGNATED SITESAND HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT RECORDS:

This information is drawn from Lancashire Archaepbal Advisory Services,
Historic England \www.historicengland.org.yk and the Archaeology Data Service
(archaeologydataservice.ac.uk). The village of Talhss sited to the south-west of
the agricultural building under study, and the Chuis to the north-east. South of
the agricultural building is Thurland Castle, whisha building of late fourteenth
century origin and has a Grade II* Listed Buildstgtus (HE 1164439); it is located
within its wider estate (HER 39649).

Historic Envronment Record: the HER has entries for eight Listed Sites witlia t
study area, within the village of Tunstall and he east of the agricultural building,
reflecting the extended medieval and early postievadl history of the village. In
Tunstall village itself were four Grade Il listediildings, three of mid-eighteenth
century date: Tunstall Hall (HER 5367; HE 13174@2479), the Old Vicarage
(HER 16059; HE 1071641/182478), Gabriel Cottage RHEL6061; HE
1165269/182484) and Tarnwater (HER 16095; HE 104/1@B2485), which was a
house with two carved datestones of 1699. A fiith was a mid-nineteenth century
milestone (HER 16058; HE 1317405/182477). A shadtadce north of the
agricultural building under study was the Graddidied Old School House (HER
4542; HE 1071643/182483) with a datestone of 1768)( North-east of the

For the use of Phil Stephenson © OA North: August 2016
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3.2.3

3.2.4

3.2.5

3.2.6

3.3
3.3.1

agricultural building was the Grade | Listed Pari€hurch (HER 676; HE
1071642/182481), which was documented in the DomeSdirvey of 1086 and has
the remains of thirteenth century constructionpdisted is a probable eighteenth
century Sundial base (HER 675 and HE 1165259/182@&#), which is thought to
have been a stepped octagonal base for a medmgsl with the rounded shaft for a
later sundial (Monument 44044; www.pastscape.ojg.uk

Also within the study area, the HER had entriesafdurther four eighteenth century

buildings. Additionally of interest was the con@@d Roman Road, twelve finds

spots, including one Roman coin, a Roman steelyeidht and two Roman stones

(one Altar and one Milestone) and a Medieval C®isd. Presented d@gppendix lis

a tabulated list of the agricultural buildin§ite 1) and the 27 HER entries for the

study area refered to by Site numbers and their H&Rbers; these are denoted on
Fig 3 with their site numbers. Each HER number 8itd number is noted in the

text, where appropriate.

Conservation Area: Tunstall village centre, and particular areas e horth of
Church Lane, are within a Conservation Area; thecafjural building under study
Is just to the south of the southern edge of tmmar{o.lancaster.gov.uk). The
Conservation Appraisal for Tunstall is not yet gafalie (bid).

Historic Landscape Characterisation: the Historic Landscape Character (HLC)
maps detailed on MARIO for the environs of Tunstaid the agricultural building
under study show that the Conservation Area of @lingillage is of Ancient and
Post Medieval Settleme(that issettlements that pre-date the 1st edition OS mhAps o
the mid-nineteenth century), and is surroundedPbst-Medieval [field] Enclosures
(land enclosed or re-organised between 1600 an@)18%e agricultural building
under study is withinPost-Medieval EnclosureThurland Castle is contained by
Ancient and Post Medieval Ornamental Landscegikecting perhaps its nineteenth
century, or earlier, park landscaping, and to @ ef this is a small area Ahcient
Enclosurewhich comprised small irregular fields south-east adjacent to Cant
Beck (ancashire's HLC35 (www.pcl-eu.dg; Darlington 2002).

Previous archaeological work in the study areaumetl recording work at
Churchfield Barn (north of the Church) (Ratter 2D0B~vo archaeological projects
were undertaken at Thurland Castle, one in 199%etwrd the structure of the
medieval and later castle in advance of proposattsvdUAU 1999), and a second
in 2000 excavating four evaluation trenches withusequent watching brief, but
these recorded no significant archaeological festtUAU 2000).

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Prehistoric and Roman Archaeology in Tunstall: within the North-West the
evidence for Neolithic activity is often sporadinda dependant upon isolated
findspots; close to the Study Area there is a fiad$or a broken polished stone axe
found in the grounds of Thurland Castle when diggup tree roots (Monument
44061 (www.pastscape.org.uk)). There is a perhapsoa Age or Romano-British
site at Sellet Bank, a defended enclosure located gently sloping plateau on the
eastern slope of Sellet Bank in an elevated posibio the west side of the Lune
valley (HE 1011685; www.historicenglandorg.uk) appmately 3km north of
Tunstall.

For the use of Phil Stephenson © OA North: August 2016
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3.3.2 The Roman military occupation of this part of Lastuae and Cumbria, in the last
quarter of the first century AD, established fatd ancaster, Overburrow just north
of Tunstall, and Watercrook near Kendal, which gadi a network of roads acting as
communication and supply routes from the south east. One of these was a
north/south road east of Cantsfield, from Ribchefste in the south and going north
to Overburrow and then on to Brougham fort. Anotfmnjectured) Roman road
went north/south from Lancaster to Overburrow tiglo@runstall Gite 10). Cole and
Roper's map of 1805 (Plate 2) showed the line efctnjectured north/south Roman
Road denoted as a double dashed line going pasthtiech at Tunstall and then to
'‘Overborough' (Cole and Roper 1805). Within thed8tArea an inscribed Roman
Altar dedicated to the Roman Gods Asclepius andidday (probably derived from
the fort at Overburrow) was found, re-used, infdt®ic of the Church of St John the
Baptist Site 8; Monument 44048; RIB 609www.romaninscriptionsofbritain.org
www.roman-britain.co.uk). Also found next to Turls@hurch was a broken Roman
Milestone, which was first recorded in 1884; howeveis not known where the
Milestone is now $%ite 5, Monument 4405). A Roman yard weigl8ite 12) was
found close to the conjectured Roman Road at Tlindtause Farm and a Roman
sestertius of Septimius Severus has also been fdosd to Tunstall HallSite 26).

| - E & E .'Q' E

»;,'-Jg £ find 8 ,/: NS

£ = Lot

Plate 2: Cole and Roper’s map of 1805 showingitieedf the conjectured Roman
road extending past the church

3.3.3 The Medieval Period in Tunstall: a church at Tunstall was cited in the Domesday
record (Faull and Stinson 1986); it was originalgdicated to St Michael, and the
remains of thirteenth century fabric have beentified (Site 7; HE 1071642). The
documentary evidence of the Conquest and post-Gstqueriod has shown that
Tunstall was a manor firstly in the fee of Benthan@n in Hornby; lands in Tunstall
were held for a time in the twelfth to fourteentmturies by the Abbots of Croxton
and 1202 was the earliest mention of the Tunsaalliliy in Cantsfield and Tunstall
(Farrer and Brownbill 1914; Chippendall 1928, 292).

3.3.4 In the fourteenth century a knighthood was grarnte@ Thomas de Tunstall and,
when he inherited in 1387, he began to build Thatl&astle, a house surrounded by
a moat. The house was probably completed by 13®hwchantry was granted and
in 1402 the Tunstalls were given a license to degeg later founding a park at

For the use of Phil Stephenson © OA North: August 2016



Agricultural Building, Church Lane, Tunstall, Lan¢ae: Historic Building Survey Report 10

3.3.5

Fairthwaite by Leck (Chippendall 1928, 294-5; Peard942, 3-5; HE 1184439
(Fairthwaite Park); that there was also an estat®snding the castle, at some time,
may be suggested by thiighe Apportionment Map of Cantsfig(ti846) and the OS
1st edition map of 1847 (Fig 2a) which clearly skava ground plan of the castle
within its completely circular moat and within a @inoval estate in the Cantsfield
parish on the edge of the border with Tunstallgtaii his small estate might perhaps
have been used as a 'park’, either as early amsathemid fifteenth century or more
probably later in the late fifteenth and sixteenémturies when parks began to be
built directly alongside or surrounding the hougeasdun 1991, 20); however, a
formally emparked estate at Thurland was not degian any of the sixteenth,
seventeenth or eighteenth century mapise building ofsuch a structure almost
seems like a re-branding of the family status; hamgeit is not known where in
Cantsfield the Tunstall family lived prior to theiilding of Thurland Castle, or
whether there was an earlier castle or fortifielll. fde building of the castle was in
keeping with the trend of the fourteenth and fiftieecenturies to replace the early
motte and bailey castles along the Lune valleywed by fortified manor houses
such as at Ashton, Borwick, Hornby, and includirgifand (Nevell 2012, 29).

The development of the Medieval and Post-Medieval Village at Tunstall: there is
very little documentary evidence so far found teega detailed account; however,
the pattern of settlement depicted on the eartlesiled maps, that is Greenwood's
map of 1824 (Plate 3), Hennet's map of 1829, thieeTApportionment map of 1846
and the 1st edition OS map of 1847 (Fig 2a) miglggest how the village had
developed. It seems that the cluster of buildimg$unstall village was possibly the
early manorial centre of the village with a clostationship to Thurland Castle. The
present building of Tunstall Hall, at the north-tvesrner of the Thurland estate as
depicted on Hennet's map of 1829 (Plate 4) and shedition OS map of 1847, is
dated to the eighteenth century; however, the (&#le 22) and its associated farm
buildings may have had earlier antecedents atltleation. At a distance to the east
of the village was the Church of St John the BapBsth the Church and the manor
originated in the period of the Domesday Book dndgtwere likely to have related
to each other.

For the use of Phil Stephenson © OA North: August 2016
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Plate 4: Hennett's map (1829) of Lancashire shongstalI

3.3.6 Between the possible manorial centre and the chwesha series of about three to
four fields presenting an undeveloped or abandaeetial area; it should be noted

For the use of Phil Stephenson © OA North: August 2016
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3.3.7

3.3.8

3.3.9

here that the fields on the south edge of Churael@did not appear to be part of
the later Thurland estate or 'park’ to the so8#t(ion 3.3.10(Hennet's 1829; Tithe
Maps 1846) and thus this area was undeveloped andaimed for other reasons.
The geographical separation between Tunstall chanthits manoriataputand
the lack of extant buildings may have been thelteduhe gradual movement of
the village to the south-west after the church tuatt, perhaps due to the lessening
importance of the north/south Roman road to thé¢ aas the greater use of the
north/south road and river crossings along the Riwvsme to Borrow Bridge and
Kirkby Lonsdale (White 197442). There is also evidence that in the first lodlf
the fourteenth century the parish appears to haemn Iseverely affected by the
invasions from Scotland as the valuations of titteeshe vicarage and rectory had
dropped by a large percentage (Farrer and BrowdBill4, 225-30). Such losses
may have been compounded by the poor harvestle paitains and plagues of the
first half of the fourteenth century in this nontheart of England (Slavin 2010).
Thus parts of the village of Tunstall may have bedyandoned during the
fourteenth century. A recent history of the pamstd church states that ‘there is a
tradition that the village was once nearer the dhuand thatthe village was
depleted because of ‘plague’ (Mason 1995, 5). Wasld perhaps suggest that the
cluster of houses close to Tunstall Hall and theeRLune may have developed
around the end of the fourteenth century or théeeaberhaps associated with the
building of Thurland CastleS{te 28; HE 1164439).

Thus, within this central area the agriculturalltmig under study perhaps overlies
an area of potential archaeological significanae, that there may be the

archaeological remains of an earlier pre-Conquesteatlieval village along Church

Lane.

Tunstall Village and Thurland Castle in the early Post-Medieval Period: Tunstall
was likely to have been impacted by the Civil Warparticular by the seven week
seige on Thurland Castle in 1643 (Pearson 1942, It interesting to note that
the church registers were uncompleted for the y&éas8 to 1646 and that there
were possibly no incumbents for the church for thraé (NA 1932, 6) Again, this
area of the agricultural building under study mayéarchaeological remains from
the seige. Part of the castle was re-furbishecetbabitable in 1663 (Pearson 1942,
13) but it was not until the early nineteenth ceptin 1809 and 1829, that the
Castle was rebuilt9jte 28; HE 1164439).

Towards the end of the seventeenth century, anshglihe eighteenth century,
Tunstall village perhaps thrived and became moneujaded. The HER records,
within this central cluster of the village, eightbstantial stone buildings dating to
the years around the eighteenth cent@ye document of 1702 related to road
repairs on Church Lane (QSP/874/t71702). The documentary evidence also
mentions a school in 1621, a school-master wasidee in 1699 (Farrer and
Brownbill 1914, 225-31). The Old School House wadthn 1753 (bid; Site 2,
HE 1071643/182483) on what were perhaps undevelapedbandoned lands
between the medieval village and the Church. Withenfabric of the outside wall
of this building is a re-used medieval grave slabised with a sword and a cross
within a circle Gite 3; HE 1071643).Similar cross slabs have been found in

Hornby Parish Church and Lancaster Pridioyd].

3.3.10 Alongside the rebuilding of the Castle in 1809 a@8P9 (HE 1164439) by the

owner Richard Toulmin North (Plate 5), there mayhpes have been some re-
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landscaping of the surrounding estate or parklamts. earliest map to show the
suggestion of a specific enclosed area around ahdriCastle was produced in
1805 by Cole and Roper (Plate 2). Hennet's map 820 1(Plate 4) certainly
depicted a large enclosure or 'park’ attached ® @astle. Whether such
landscaping contributed to the dispersal of villdgyeldings and fields south of
Church Lane is unknown; however, it appears thatfiblds north of Thurland
Castle park may have been a separate land-holdieignet's map of 1829 clearly
showed a building in the location of the agricudiusuilding under study and that it
was north of th& hurland Castle park and separate from it. Addélbyn the Tithe
Map for Tunstall and Cantsfield (1846) demonstratiedt the field where the
agricultural barn was sited was owned and occupiedohn Turner and did not
appear to be in the remit of the Thurland Castldosures which were owned by
Richard Toulmin North Esq.

3.3.11 Tunstall House (HER 39915) and its barn were caostd in 1870 and 1883
respectively; Tunstall House Farm (HER 39917) wai#t In 1914. These are not
marked on the location map (Fig 3) as they are qfattie later nineteenth century
development to the north of the earlier medievall grost-medieval village.

Thurland Castle, after a fire, was rebuilt in byeyaand Austin the 1879-1885 (HE
1164439).

34
3.4.1

MAP REGRESSION

The earliest available map with any real detatioathe individual buildings and
roads in Tunstall is that of Yates in 1786 and €ane1789; the Church was
marked on both those maps but the [Old] School E@misl753 was not noted,;
nor does agricultural building under study appeabé¢ depicted. It was not
marked onCole and Roper's map of 1805 (Plate 2), although intieigly the

line of the conjectured north/south Roman Road wesoted as a double
dashed line going past the Church at Tunstall aed to '‘Overborough'. The
agricultural building does seem to have been markedthe copy of

Greenwood's map of 1824 (Plate 3) (although the Sldool House was not
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shown) and might perhaps be discerned above theofT’'the copy of
Greenwood’s map of 1824. It may have been a laujeibg depicted, at the
approximate location, on Hennet's map of 1829 ¢Pla¥)
(www3.lancashire.gov.uk/environment/oldmap). It vedesarly depicted on the
Tithe map for Tunstall in 1846, which showed thensaevel of detail and
information on houses, roads and water courses1dabenlst edition OS map
surveyed in 1844-5 described below.

3.4.2 1st edition OS map, 1:10,560, 1847 (Fig 2a): the agricultural building (Plate 6)
shown on this map was depicted as a substantifdimgy rectangular with a
small square addition on the western half of thetsside. It was on the south
side of Church Lane in a large enclosed field opgpdbe Old School House.
The OId School House was a small building set witlts own garden plot.
North-east of the agricultural building was theiglarChurch of St John the
Baptist, which was at the centre of a square graewlthough there was a
curve in the road on the southern edge. North ®CGhurch was Church Field

House perhaps referencing the ownership of theosedl fields north of the
church.

Plate 6: Western elevation of the barn

3.4.3 The agricultural building was south of the villalgeck which flowed roughly
parallel to Church Lane from Cant Beck westwardshtvillage of Tunstall.
Just east of where the village beck was piped utigeroad was a short length
of track leading to a field east of where the agtigal building was located.
This track or cul-de-sac was marked on Greenwaud|s of 1824.

3.4.4 In Tunstall village the buildings were clusteredward the main roads, the
north/south road marked Sedburgh Trust, Ayr Laaading north to the River
Lune) and Church Lane. Those buildings labelledewBack Lane House,
Ducksberry, Tunstall Hall, Fenwick Arms and the af@ge. Parcels of short
rectangular fields (likely to follow the medievaatperns of field enclosure)
were depicted in a series along the western sidgyolLane, and across Back
Lane, north and west of the village. Tunstall Halid its associated (probable
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3.4.5

3.4.6

3.4.7

3.4.8

farm) buildings, was at the north-west corner & fhurland Castle estate or
park. The agricultural building was sited in a krgrectangular field
immediately to the north of the castle park bougpdar

There was no church sited in the cluster of thiagd, the church was that of St
John the Baptist on Church Lane east of the aguiall building. Thus there

was a large area of three to four fields betweemn rttain village centre,

including Tunstall Hall, and the church, indicatiagpossible hiatus in the
development of the villageséction 5.1.p

OS map, 1:2,500, 1891 (Fg 2b): the environs of the agricultural building under
study were relatively unchanged since 1847, thatkbdeen some development
of Tunstall village in the street from Tunstall Had Fenwick Arms and also,
notably, Tunstall House on the road north to Bur®fdge. The Old School
House within its garden remained the same, detptadditional School (HER
39916) now noted on a small plot west of the Chu&thJohn Baptist's Church
was now marked as having a cross on the southgm @dthe graveyard and
this may correspond to the Sundial recorded (HER, 6¥E 1165259; and
Monument 44044). The agricultural building wasl stiithin its field, but the
field had been enlarged by the removal of the eagieundary of 1847. The
short length of track east of the original 1847dfizvas no longer denoted;
however, the 1960s aerial photograph demonstrdtadthe track had been
subsumed by a boundary wall (1960s aerial phottgrae village beck was
no longer marked.

OS map, 1:2,500, 1913 (not illustrated):this map showed that there had been
no changes to the environs of the Church, the Qldo8 House and the
agricultural building under study except for oneligmhal building in a plot to
the east of the Old School House; this was calle@dlads. The agricultural
building itself was denoted with a small, squanegeé-sided, unroofed structure
or fold, open on the north side, to the east oftihidéding and this can be seen
on the later aerial photographs of the 1960s (narnoaster.gov.uk; Plate 7).
The aerial photograph also showed that there wasllafrom the south-east
corner extending southwards to create a funneledrere or exitipid).

OS map, 1:10,560, 1956: (not illustrated) the only change to the immediate
area of the agricultural building was the buildofga long rectangular structure
in the north-west corner of the field (labelledtlie 1972 map as a village hall
with a tennis court to the west). The agriculturallding was still marked as
having the small square three-sided structureorast side. The south side of
the building had an additional extension on thd ead, thus creating a flush
southern elevation, and, as the 1972 1:2,500 OSsinayed, still retained the
earlier extension on the west side.
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Plate 7: Aerial photograph of the barn from the96
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4. BUILDING SURVEY

4.1
4.1.1

4.1.2

4.1.3

THE BARN EXTERIOR (FIGS5-8)

The barn was a detached rectangular four and abhglf gabled stone structure,
aligned just to the south of the east/west Churahel(Plate 8; Figs 4-8). A full
length single-storey lean-to had been appendele@astern elevation and another
had been constructed against the southern gableT™al primary entrance was from
a large, full-height, double doorway at the cemfehe western elevation, but the
lean-to structures each had independent extersakawia a pair of opposing doors
in their end walls.

Plate 8: Aerial view of the Barn, facing south

Fabric and Construction: the barn was constructed of large, rounded copbles
roughly-coursed and set within a lime mortar. Saihe cobbles had been faced up
to leave a more regular wall face, while the quoamsl the surrounds of each
opening were typically formed of sandstone gripléd to a rough finish. The
external elevations had been part rendered usicgreentitious mortar, leaving the
alternating quoins on display. The roof coveringotayed sandstone slates, laid in
diminishing courses towards the eaves but, dedmtag in a poor condition, it
survived across much of the building.

Western Elevation (Fig 8): the primary elevation of the barn lay to the wediere

it faced the centre of the village across an opad {Plate 6). The only opening was
a large cart entrance, off-set to the south shgtdlleave two full bays to the north
and only one and a half at the opposing end. Thiégawere laid in alternating
courses but were significantly smaller in charathan those used at the corners of
the building and a timber lintel lay across the cheh the opening. The original
double doors had been replaced with corrugatedexamples.
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4.1.4

4.1.5

4.1.6

4.1.7

4.1.8

Careful inspection of this wall revealed a seri€flad, horizontal, levelling courses

at intervals of just over a metre, suggesting that wall had been raised in five
stages, but, unlike the other elevations, the westéevation did not display the

typical projecting through stones seen in so maayspof the Yorkshire Dales. A

cast iron gutter had run along the head of theagien, and a down pipe had been
attached to the northern corner, although bothigedvonly as fragments, with the
brackets indicating its original line.

Northern Elevation (Fig 5): the northern gable wall was constructed in a simil
fashion to that just described but had mouldedestameelers at the head of each
corner and was finished with a low parapet toppgé@ lzourse of flat stones (Plate
9). A vertical rectangular pitching hole was lochteeneath the apex, with a picked,
faced, stone lintel resting upon rubble jambs arsleader stone sill beneath. The
opening had been blocked, with the exception ofttyge left hand corner which
appeared to have been retained as an owl hole milat®mn loop. A narrow
ventilation loop lay immediately above the pitchingle, formed in rubble, with a
small rough horizontal sill and lintel.

Evidently, there had been a series of small opesnatigground-floor level but their

blocking, and the application of a rough cementtarpmade it difficult to measure

their dimensions. Several projecting through-stome=re identified across the

elevation but appeared to be arranged in threéndistourses across the height of
the wall.

Plate 9: Northern elevation of the Main Barn

Eastern Elevation (Fig 6): the eastern elevation had been completely enclbged
the addition of two projecting lean-to structureg the collapse of the roof of the
southern of the two lean-tos had once again regethle original elevation and is
described here in full.

Its construction mirrored that described on thethwn gable, with regular courses
of sporadic through-stones projecting from the Viatle (Plate 10). A wide double
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width doorway lay at the centre of the elevatioppasing that described on the
western elevation but lower in height (Plate 119.durrounds had been coated in
white paint but it appeared to have sandstone jaftborthern third had been
infilled with stone, reducing the width of the da@y, and its head had been lowered
by a similar margin, fossilising the original timbkntel in the wall above. The
opening had been fitted with a timber, three platdgrway, hung upon a wooden
frame and careful inspection of the underside ef lihtel revealed that the beams
had been reused, preserving evidence of a reduddaatail joint, an empty mortice
and a chamfer with a lamb’s tongue stop at ong(Blade 12).

4.1.9 A second, and smaller, doorway lay at the nortlerad of the elevation, and was
again fitted with the remnants of a timber plankodoTo the south of the
northernmost door lay a blocked, vertically-settaagular window, much obscured
by the thick white paint which covered the majoofythe elevation and to the south
of this lay a narrow ventilation loop with rubblarsounds. At the southern end of
the elevation lay three identical ventilation loppsranged at regular intervals the
openings had been blocked on their internal faces.

4.1.10 At first floor level the southern half of the eléxa included three ventilation loops,
off-set slightly from those below, while the nonthénalf had a similar arrangement,
all of which remained open. A cement flashing ranizontally above the heads of
the southern vents and below the line of the eamégating the original height of
the roof of the lean-to which projected from thislef the building.

4.1.11 Southern Elevation (Fig 7): the southern gable wall was also enclosed byea lat
lean-to structure but its upper third was visidb®we the roof line and the remainder
is described from within the lean-to (Plates 13 d4d. Its quoins, kneelers and
raised parapet were identical to those describeth@morthern gable wall and it too
had a narrow ventilation loop immediately beneathdapex; however, this elevation
omitted the pitching hole and instead included @daiteonal two ventilation loops at
first-floor height arranged at thirds across thegte of the wall. The remainder of
the wall was coated in thick white paint and nougb floor openings were visible
with the exception of a small square niche or lseggty socket at the eastern end
which may have housed one end of a beam. At lbasé tcourses of the projecting
through-stones were visible arranged at broadlyleggntervals across the height of
the elevation.
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Plate 10: Southern end of the original easternagienw of the Main Barn, facing
north-west

Plate 11: Central eastern doorway. Note the imfifertion to the right of frame
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Plate 13: The southern elevation of the Main baith southern lean-to
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4.2
421

4.2.2

4.2.3

southern lean-to in the foreground

BARN-INTERIOR

Internally, the barn comprised a single undividexdyé space with a flag-stone floor
between the opposing entrances, a cobbled suidate thorth and a compacted soil
floor to the south (Plates 15 and 16). The wallsewgart rendered in lime but any
white wash or paint that may have been appliechéosurface has since been lost.
From the interior it was evident that the northgable wall had been constructed
with three ventilation loops at ground-floor levelistributed equally across the
length of the wall. All three were blocked to thil fvidth of the wall, while those on
the eastern wall and southern gable wall were splap the interior, had rubble
jambs and timber lintels.

The window at the northern end of the eastern wa#l only blocked on its external
face leaving a deep niche with splayed jambs andlzer lintel over (Plate 17). The
lintel had clearly been reused, having a chamfexdge and a stop at the southern
end. At the back of the niche the windows origithaber frame and central mullion
had been preserved intact, demonstrating traditi@aapentry techniques. The
timber lintel of the vent immediately to its sowths notable for its length, extending
well beyond the southern jamb of the opening, dnd possible a wider opening
once existed here to match that to the north.

The roof was constructed with four principal raftersses, with each end of its tie
beam resting within a trench cut into the tops le# tall plates (Plate 18). The
principal rafters were jointed into the upper faoéshe ends of the beams, rising to
the apex where they were affixed to each othemwhat appeared to be a hafting.
Additional support was provided by a pair of sligldurved braces morticed into the
underside of the principal rafters and into thestap the tie beam. The timber
appeared to be of hard wood and may well have beestructure’s original roof;

For the use of Phil Stephenson © OA North: August 2016



Agricultural Building, Church Lane, Tunstall, Lan¢ae: Historic Building Survey Report 23

however, numerous empty dovetail joints indicatest the timbers had been used on
the roof of an earlier building (Plate 19). Thelms were trenched into the backs of
the principal rafters and were staggered betwesass, bahile the common rafters
were affixed to the backs of these with battensvab@®he slates had been hung on
the battens and their undersides were torchedlimgamortar.

4.2.4 Two of the trusses were in a very poor conditiod Aad been shored up with the
addition of a matching truss immediately to thetso'he original trusses were
numbered on the northern face of their westerrtgowith roman numerals from | at
the southern end increasing to V at the northedh(Brate 20). Notably truss IV was
not present, and again perhaps highlights the refishe timbers from another
building. Trusses | —Ill were further numbered watlseries of punched dots on the
northern faces of their eastern joints (Plate 21).

4.2.5 Several pieces of wheeled farming equipment had eserved in the barn,
probably dating to the first half of the twentietbntury, and a small free standing
piece of equipment bearing the name ‘unchokealpl@é’the manufactures name ‘J.R.
Warwick’ of ‘Lancaster’ stood in one corner (Pl12@).
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Plate 17: Blocked window and vent at the northaewh &f the eastern elevation
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Plate 18: The truss design in the Main Barn

Plate 19: A failed principal rafter on the northémmss. The empty halfting
joints can be seen on both rafters indicative eirtreuse
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Plate 20: Roman numerals marking assembly ordde &lso the chamfered
stops on the underside of both beams

Plate 21: Punched assembly numbers, indicating fous
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4.3
43.1

4.3.2

4.3.3

4.3.4

Plate 22: Free standing machinery, marked as ‘Ueztde’ and the
manufactures name ‘J.R. Warwick’ of ‘Lancaster’

NORTH-EASTERN LEAN-TO

Fabric and Construction: the lean-to at the northern end of the eastern
elevation was constructed in a similar manner & ¢ the main barn to which

it was abutted but was only a single storey in hieighe quoins appeared to be
of the same stone used to erect the barn and twstoges appeared on both
the northern and eastern elevations. The sandstwfimg slates were laid in
diminishing courses.

Northern Elevation: the northern elevation provided external accesshéo
building through a doorway at the eastern end éP28). The door surrounds
and lintel were formed in large sandstone blockd #re opening was fitted
with a six panel timber door with a sliding woodeent in its upper half. A
modern ceramic pipe had been inserted into theotdpe western half of the
wall, presumably to provide additional ventilation.

Eastern Elevation: the eastern elevation had no openings of any kiricthe
former presence of a gutter was indicated by aeseof brackets located
beneath the eaves. Alternating quoins at the soutbad of the elevation
indicated the original southern corner of the buoid although this was now
abutted by the northern end of the south-eastemte structure (Plate 24).

Southern Elevation: the southern wall had been incorporated into this
adjoining building and was in a fragile state (PIa6). Although construction
appeared much the same as the remainder of theustuthe lime core had
been washed out leading to structural damage. Tere doors at the eastern
and western ends of the elevation, the former beiagly constructed with
large sandstone block work was the larger of the, twhile the latter had
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rubble jambs and a timber lintel. A socket justite east of the western door at
waist height had been inserted to take one endtwhlzer partition related to
the cattle stalls in the adjoining building.

i

Plate 24: Stone quoins indicating the butt joirtine®n the eastern walls of the
north-eastern and south-eastern lean-to, facing wes
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4.4
44.1

4.4.2

Plate 25 : Southern wall of the north-eastern lman-

NORTH-EASTERN L EAN-TO INTERIOR

Internally, the walls had been coated in a thickievpaint, although this had all but
worn off on the southern wall (Plate 26). The flaeas divided into two main
levels with a concrete passage along the eastgeno$ithe building connecting the
two eastern opposing doors. The remainder of tber fto the west was raised
approximately 0.1m higher and had a hard wearimg ké sandstone blocks along
its eastern side, edging a concreate surface (RlgteThe western limit of this
surface clearly marked the head of the cattlessteith a feeding passage along the
western wall comprised of an informal soil floor. |lArge upright slate at the
northern end of room had formed part of the origdigision between the feeding
passage and stalls and a pair of empty stone soakethe floor of the stalls
indicated the position of the dividing posts and thidth of the stalls. A timber
tethering post survived against the southern vealnplete with its iron tethering
ring.

The building’s roof was formed of a single halfgsumid-way across the width of
the room, carrying trenched and staggered puringhe back of its principal rafter
(Plate 28). The common rafters, battens and slatre arranged in an identical
manner to the Main Barn, although no torching heenbapplied. As with the Main
Barn, the principal rafter retained two empty ha$fs, suggesting that it was
originally used as a tie beam.
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Plate 27: Interior of the north-eastern lean-tarfgmorth. Note the upstanding
slate division to the left of frame
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4.5
45.1

4.5.2

4.5.3

e

Plate 28: Half truss in the north-eastern learNtate the empty halftings on the
principal rafter, indicative of its original use asie beam. Facing south

SOUTH-EASTERN LEAN-TO

Fabric and Construction: the single-storey lean-to at the southern endh@Main
Barn’s eastern elevation consisted of a southedhveall and eastern lateral wall,
with the roof covering and its structure absente Wiestern and northern limits of
the building were defined by the Main Barn and tiwth-eastern lean-to, but
construction was again similar to these buildingshwarge rounded cobbles,
roughly-coursed and set within a lime mortar. Lasg@dstone quoins had been
employed at the south-eastern corner but werenesept at the northern end of the
eastern wall where the structure abutted the adpilean-to. The exterior of the
building had been repointed in a rough cement morta

External Appearance: externally, the building could be entered via ard@y at
the eastern end of the southern wall, which wagddpby a large, slightly
trapezoidal sandstone lintel (Plate 29). It waslent from the shape of the lintel,
and two small square sockets on its outer face,ithead previously served as a
vertical gate post and a shallow bell curve hachbmeved into its eastern end in
relief (Plate 30). The doorway was fitted with enlter door of narrow vertical
panels similar to that described on the adjoinieantto, and also incorporated a
sliding timber vent within its upper half. The remder of the southern wall was in
poor condition, with its upper third missing aneé thestern half partially collapsed.
A steel water trough had been placed against the bfthe wall to the west of the
doorway, partially obscuring the wall behind.

The eastern wall was partly obscured by vegetatigntwo narrow openings just
beneath the height of the eaves indicated the fopuosition of a pair of principal
rafters which must once have supported the roofe/hthe wall abutted the
northern lean-to there was a small square windownidtheight with a narrow
stone sill below a substantial stone lintel (P&t¢. The northern end of the lintel
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had been inserted into the pre-existing cornehefédjoining northern lean-to and
although heavily weathered a careful inspectiontoiinderside revealed it to be

moulded and therefore indicative of reuse.

Plate 29: Southern wall of the south-eastern leafating north

Plate 30: Sandstone gate-post reused as a lirdekdhe entrance into the south-
eastern lean-to
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4.5.4 Internal Appearance: internally, the southern wall retained tracestsfcoating of
white paint, although this was almost completelst ivom the face of the eastern
wall. A narrow doorway with a timber lintel lay #te western end of the southern
wall, leading into the southern lean-to. The calpf the roof had resulted in an
accumulation of rubble, soil and other debris whaddscured the ground surface
but the rubble had been cleared across a centtbis®f the floor. This revealed a
similar basic arrangement to that described in rtbeh-eastern lean-to, with a
passage along the eastern wall, defined by a ratsu along its western edge.
Unlike the northern lean-to, the centre of the floetained its original cobbled
surface and there was a cement drain running atsngiestern edge. A lateral
feeding passage ran along the western side ofuldirg, with the remnants of a
timber partition surviving at the southern end glide a wooden tethering post
attached to the southern wall.
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4.6
4.6.1

4.6.2

4.6.3

<Y

Plate 32: Interior of the south-eastern lean-tinfasouth

SOUTHERN LEAN-TO

Fabric and Construction: at the southern end of the Main Barn a third sngl
storey lean-to structure had been erected in rgughlrsed large rounded cobbles.
The building employed large alternating sandstoneirgs at its southern corners
and the surrounds of its openings were formed ®fsttme. The external walls had
been repointed in cement but had originally beetineé mortar. The eastern half
of the roof had collapsed, but the remaining weshalf was covered in sandstone
slates, laid in diminishing courses to the top.

External Appearance: the western elevation had a single doorway atetistern
end, although its door had been removed. No o#eufes of interest were noted,
but the repointing in cement on this elevation,cmmmon with the western
elevation of the main barn, was closer to a rowgider and this may have hidden
additional details. The southern elevation had Hioadly-arranged rectangular
window towards each end topped by a large stortel land fitted with a pair of
horizontal iron bars across its lower half (Pla3. 3he lintels were unusual in that
they were formed using a fine-grained sandstoneseeh on any other part of the
building and it was apparent that they were propadgplacements, the surrounding
mortar and stone work forming only a loose fit arduhem (Plate 34). The eastern
lintel also displayed a small empty socket at gate, perhaps a remnant of an
earlier use. Nothing remained of the original ginig save for its iron brackets and
two pairs of empty holes at the western end, wiiehoted the former position of
the down pipe.

The eastern elevation was a reflection of thath® west, although it retained its
internally opening timber door at the southern eatitionally, the masonry at the
northern end of the wall was slightly disturbed adtout mid-height, perhaps
indicating a blocked opening of some kind (Platg 3Be loss of the roof from this
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4.6.4

4.6.5

4.6.6

end of the structure had also led to the washingbthe lime mortar joints at the
head of the wall, making the structure more fragléhe east.

Plate 33: Southern elevation of the southern lean-t

Internal Appearance: the internal walls were coated in thick white pauith the
exception of the eastern wall where the weather $tagped this away but the
layout of the interior was perhaps the best presktof any of the three lean-to’s
(Plate 36). A cobbled feeding passage ran alongatthern side defined to the
south by a half-height timber partition that deotiee head end of the stalls (Plate
37). Additional partitions extended at right angfesm these at regular intervals
along the buildings length, indicating the width tbe stalls, which would have
been further sub-divided by intermediary posts. phsitions of the intermediary
posts were revealed by a series of empty socketiseirtoncrete floor, indicating
stalling for up to eight animals. Timber tetherimgsts survived against the eastern
and western walls, with a third at the centre efithom, all retained their tethering
iron. A stone kerb defined the rear of the stdilsyond which there was a step
down to a concrete drain running along the lengdththe building. An access
passage located against the southern wall betvireetwb opposing doors retained
its original cobbled floor to the east but this Haekn replaced in concrete to the
west.

At the northern end of the eastern wall was a regtkar niche, with splayed jambs
and a timber lintel, which matched the positiorthe disturbed masonry noted on
the exterior. The two features can probably betifled as a window, blocked on

its external face to leave a recess on the inteleahtion.

Unlike the remainder of the buildings the roof wasstructed of soft wood and the
major timbers were bolted together rather thantgminA single half truss at the
centre of the building was composed of a tie bgammcial rafter, king post and
diagonal brace. The tie beam had been cut intbeld of the wall to the south and
socketed into the southern wall of the Main Barnh® north. The principal rafter
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carried a pair of purlins on its back which in tsupported the common rafters and
battens upon which the slates were mounted.

& 3

Plate 35: Area of disturbed masonry at the nortleechof the eastern wall
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Plate 37: Stall partitions, facing north-west

4.2.1 The character of the stone work suggested there hmaag been a seventh vent
between the two sets but this could not be confitme
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5. DISCUSSION

5.1
5.1.1

5.1.2

5.1.3

5.2
5.2.1

CONCLUSION

A mitigative archaeological survey has been un#tertaof the agricultural building
itself, which is not listed or designated or inadd within any designated
conservation or heritage areas. This survey previdethe recording of the building
as mitigation for its alteration and renovatiorpast of the proposed development.

There has been no previous archaeological workrtadde on this structure and it is
not known when it was originally built, althoughhtis been ascertained from the
map regression that it may have been built aft@1ut before 1824. Of interest is
the fact that the agricultural building is standiwghin a series of three or four
enclosed fields which appear not to have been dpedlor built on, as evidenced by
the available mapping, since the early nineteemthtury. These fields lying on
Church Lane, between the parish church to theasabkthe possible manorial village
or caput may have been abandoned sometime during the wa¢de early post-
medieval history of Tunstall village. The causeanf abandonment is uncertain, but
could relate to Scottish invasions, poor harvesittle diseases or the plague of the
fourteenth century. There is also the possibilitttits abandonment relates to the
adjacent Thurland Castle, as a result of the teargaxpansion of the parkland for
the castle, although by the time of the 1829 Henmagp (Plate 4) the northern edge
of the park was located just to the south of thecatjural building. There was a
documented siege of the castle in 1643 during ki War and while this may have
affected the locality of the building, it is mor&léy that this resulted in the
construction of siegeworks than the abandonmenpavfs of the village. Thus,
within this central area the agricultural buildipgssibly overlies an area of potential
archaeological significance, in that there may e darchaeological remains of an
earlier pre-Conquest or medieval village along Churane.

It is not known if the siting of the agriculturabitding related to the location of the
Church or the OIld School House. Certainly, the size¢he building and the bold

emphasis it was given on Hennet's map of 1829 aadXS map of 1847, imply a
building of significance. The location of the agilicral building so close to the

Church may suggest that there was a continued ctiando the Church, although it
is more probable that Church Field, north of then€h, was associated with church
business; and perhaps provided church lands oruaed for the storage of church
tithes.

DEVELOPMENT

The barn has an eighteenth / early ninetesstkury character, and was seemingly
first depicted on the 1824 Greenwood map, but nzaxeibeen earlier. By the time of
the first detailed map, the 1847 OS first editio@mpnthe eastern and southern
extensions were in place, and would indicate thatgrimary phase of the building
was earlier than this date. The quantity and cheraaf the reused timbers found
throughout the barn suggests that it was consttugsing timbers from an earlier
structure. The chamfered stops found upon mankesfe, including upon former tie
beams, suggest this earlier structure may have adeyuse, probably with its roof
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timbers exposed to the floor below. The implicatisrthat the barn may have been
constructed from an earlier domestic building as #ite or elsewhere.

5.3 FUNCTION

5.3.1 The original barn was designed as a multctional building, capable of housing
live-stock when necessary but also for the stoand processing of harvested crop.
The tall entrance at the centre of the western alideved fully laden carts to enter
from the fields, while the opposing doorway of gwemary build, was just high
enough to allow an un-laden cart to leave the mgldn the farm side of barn. Once
dried, the crop could be processed on the thredtoog at the centre of the cross-
passage, using the through-draft from the opensdtwmrassist the winnowing of
wheat or corn from the chaff. The wheat or cornldothen be stored on the
mezzanine platform, which from the position of first-floor loading hatch must
have been located at the northern end of the Mam.Br'here was no wide doorway
through the north-eastern extension, indicating tihe use of the barn for threshing
only related to the original barn (Phase 1), andheytime that the extensions were
constructed the barn was primarily being used éooemnmodating stock.

5.3.2 Over time the cattle stalls appear to have beeanisgd with an east/west feeding
passage against the partition wall of the atriumh @m open drain running along the
foot of the opposing wall. The cattle were probabtglled in pairs, divided by
timber partitions, and would have faced the feegiagsage, leaving the drain to be
cleared of manure out through one of the doorélareend of the gable walls. Until
the late nineteenth century, cows were typicaltyhdeed across the width of the
building, after which it became more common tolsta¢m across its length (EH
2006c¢, 64). The cart entrances at each end ofntteeigh-passage could also have
served as cart houses if no other accommodatiateekior them.

5.3.3 The fact that the earliest phase of the barn wdBreshing barn is potentially
significant, as threshing barns were typically inect association with a farm in
contrast with fields barns which were intended tcoanmodate stock. The
implication is that there was formerly a farm hoasehe site, which is no longer
extant. Just to the east of the barn is a squauetste with large slabs at the base,
and is clearly visible on the 1960s aerial photphrahe present owner reports that
this is currently in use a cess pit, but given ststantial size there exists the
possibility that this may have formerly been pdraw earlier structure.
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APPENDIX 1: SITE TABLE

Site | HER | NGR Period Description

no.

1 - 361120 473699 see text Tunstall agriculturdding, Church Lane

2 4542 361093 473741 18th C Listed Building (GrdtjeHE 1071643
Old School House, 1753

3 2716 361098 473742 Medieval Findspot: Inciseds€rslab in the fabric
of the Old School HouseSite 2)

4 39916 | 361340473891 19th C Old School, Churctelbuilt in 1871.

5 661 361330 473890 Roman Findspot: Milestone tedoin 1184 but
not recorded since.

6 675 361407 473906 Medieval Listed Building (GrdfgeHE 1165259:
Base for a standing Cross with an 18th C
sundial shaft.

7 676 361410 473930 Medieval Listed Building (GrddleHE 1071642:
Church of St. John the Baptist.

8 677 361430 473940 Roman Findspot: Altar stone icdeztl to
Asclepius and Hygiaea found in the fabric
of the Church wall (Site 7).

9 1208 361410 473920 13th C Findspot: Three fledarave slabs at the
Church of St. John the Baptist.

10 26149| 355310467758 Roman Conjectured nortthrsoRoman Road
through Tunstall

11 32071| 360900 473800 17th C Findspot: Rowel spur

12 32110| 360900 473800 Roman Findspot: Steelyaidiwe

13 33779| 360600 473600 Medieval Findspot: Grod@?2-1427 AD

14 33798| 360600 473600 Medieval Findspot: Grod#af7-30 AD

15 33799| 360600 473600 Medieval Findspot: Grod#af7-30 AD

16 33755| 360700 473600 Late BA| Findspot: Late Bronze Age/Early Iron Age

Early IA Bracelet
17 16095| 360707 473573 17th C Listed (Grade B)1971644 Tarnwater
18 16061| 360687 473563 18th C Listed (Grade 1) HE55269 Gabriel
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Cottage

19 39914 360667 473494 18th C Ducksberry

20 16058 | 360894 473632 19th C Listed (Grade I11)IBE7405 Milestone

21 16059| 360900 473600 18th C Listed (Grade II) HF1641 The Old
Vicarage

22 5367 360762 473446 18th C Listed Building (GrdijeHE 1317407:
Tunstall Hall Farmhouse

23 39911| 360797 473545 18thC Fenwick Arms

24 39912| 360769 473488 18th C Barnfield

25 39913| 360781 473510 18th C 4, Main Street

26 18846| 360800 473500 Roman Findspot: Sestati8eptimius Severus

27 32052| 361200 473300 Medieval Findspot: Chafdeagfger or sword 1400-
1600 AD

28 39649| 361157 473053 Medieval Listed (Grade IHE 1164439: for

Thurland Castle. HER 39649 for the Estate
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